A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

l. The trial court erred by denying John Harris's motion for a 

new attorney when he reported he could not communicate with his 

court-appointed counsel. 

2. The trial court erred by ordering Mr. Harris to pay restitution 

of $8 ,655.22 for the crime of driving with a suspended operator's 

license. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

l. A defendant's constitutional right to counsel is violated when 

he is forced to proceed with an attorney with whom he has an 

irreconcilable conflict, such as a breakdown in communication. U. S. 

Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I § 22. When the defendant asks to 

discharge his court-appointed attorney, the court must inquire into the 

nature and extent of the purported conflict. Mr. Harris asked to 

discharge his attorney before omnibus hearing due to his inability to 

communicate with the lawyer, who had represented him in a prior trial. 

The court, however, denied the motion without posing any questions of 

Mr. Harris's attorney about the nature and extent of the conflict and 

posing only two questions to Mr. Harris. Was Mr. Harris's 



constitutional right to counsel violated when the court denied his 

motion? 

2. After he was involved in an automobile accident that resulted 

in the death of another person, Mr. Harris was ordered to pay restitution 

for the accident victim's burial expenses as condition of his sentence 

for driving with a suspended operator's license and 

a. Restitution may only be imposed as authorized by 

statute. Two statutes grant the superior court the discretion to order 

restitution as a condition of probation for a suspended sentence. RCW 

9.92.060; RCW 9.95.210. Another permits the court to order 

restitution for lost or damaged property in lieu of a fine. RCW 

9A.20.030. Did the trial court lack authority to order Mr. Harris pay to 

pay restitution when he was sentenced to the maximum term without 

probation? 

b. Restitution may only be ordered for a victim's 

damages or losses that are causally connected to the crime for which 

the defendant is sentenced. Were the accident victim's burial expenses 

causally connected to the offense of driving with a suspended 

operator's license? 
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C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Clashana Grayson attempted to cross East Marginal Way on the 

evening of April 9, 2010, but she was not in a marked cross walk and 

was wearing dark clothing. 2RP 198,200-01; 3RP 262; 4RP 581; 

6/11/13 RP 6. East Marginal Way is in an industrial area at this point, 

several lanes wide, and cars drive fast, often over the speed limit. 2RP 

223; 3RP 265-66. The area was dark. 2RP 224; 5RP 670. 

John Harris Jr. was driving his 1996 Cadillac that evening when 

he suddenly hit something he had not seen in his headlights. 4RP 572, 

575; 6RP 765. Mr. Harris applied his brakes, got out of his car, and 

saw he had hit Ms. Grayson. 2RP 210-11; 6RP 766-67. He called at a 

woman who had arrived to call 911, and someone passing in a silver 

car told Mr. Harris, "She's dead, man." 6RP 767-68. Mr. Harris then 

moved his car to the nearby Annex Tavern, intending to stop, but he 

panicked and drove home. 2RP 211; 6RP 769-70, 783-84. Mr. 

Harris's driver's license was revoked at that time. 5RP 691. 

Ulonda Carpenter was in the Annex Tavern parking lot facing 

East Marginal Way when she observed the car hit Ms. Grayson and 

called 911. 2RP 198-99,201,209. David Sabedra also observed the 

accident from his tow truck at the entrance to the ABC towing yard 
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next door to the tavern. 5RP 647-49. They both observed Mr. Harris 

stop, get out of his car, and then return to his car and drive to the area 

north of the tavern. 5RP 651-53. 

Ms. Carpenter and about four other people went to the street and 

tried to help Ms. Grayson and protect her from on-coming traffic. 2RP 

203-04,229; 3RP 275. They were unsuccessful in diverting a 

speeding silver-colored car that ran over Ms. Grayson. 2RP 203-04, 

229; 3RP 258; 5RP 654, 660. The driver of the silver car did not stop. 

2RP 234; 5RP 673. The make of the car was never identified, and the 

driver did not report the accident to the police. 3RP 349. 

Ms. Grayson died later that evening at a local hospital. 2RP 

259; 3RP 341-42; 4RP 455. The cause of death was blunt force injuries 

to her head, torso, and extremities, with the head injuries as the most 

damaging. 4RP 512. The medical forensic pathologist opined that the 

most serious injuries were consistent with those suffered when an 

upright pedestrian is hit by an automobile. 4RP 512, 528. However, he 

could not rule out the possibility that the second vehicle caused Ms. 

Grayson's fatal injuries. 4RP 522, 536. 

The accident occurred on a Friday night. That weekend Mr. 

Harris contacted attorney Paul Cullen, and on Monday Mr. Harris and 
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the attorney went to the police station. 3RP 346-47,358-59; 6RP 772, 

799. Two police officers interviewed Mr. Harris, and he then took 

them to his home and gave them his automobile. 3RP 347-48, 358-59; 

6RP 773. Mr. Harris returned to the police station about ten days later 

and answered further questions. 3RP 359-60. 

The King County Prosecutor charged Mr. Harris by amended 

information with leaving the scene of an accident resulting in injury or 

death (felony hit and run) and driving with a suspended driver ' s 

license. CP 8-9, 22-23. Prior to the omnibus hearing, Mr. Harris asked 

the court to appoint new counsel because he was unable to 

communicate with his public defender. 1RP 20-2l. The Honorable 

Ron Kessler denied the motion without questioning Mr. Harris or his 

counsel any further about the conflict. CP 7; 1RP 20-2l. 

After a jury trial before the Honorable Christopher Washington, 

Mr. Harris was convicted as charged. CP 49-50. The jury answered 

"yes" to a special verdict form asking if the accident resulted in death. 

CP 51 . Mr. Harris received a standard range sentence for hit and run 

driving consecutive to a 364-day sentence for driving with a suspended 

license. CP 52-62. 
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After sentencing, a restitution hearing was held before the 

Honorable Suzanne Parisien. 6/17/l3 RP. The court ordered Mr. 

Harris to pay restitution to Ms. Grayson's family members for the 

expenses of her funeral, burial, and memorial. CP 91-105. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. Mr. Harris's constitutional right to counsel was 
violated when the trial court denied his motion to 
discharge his court-appointed attorney based upon a 
breakdown in communication. 

A criminal defendant has the right to counsel, which includes 

effective counsel with whom he can communicate. Prior to his 

omnibus hearing, Mr. Harris asked the superior court to discharge his 

court-appointed attorney because he was unable to communicate with 

him. Although Mr. Harris's reason for asking for new counsel was 

valid, the court made no inquiry of Mr. Harris or his counsel 

concerning then nature and extent of the breakdown in communication. 

Mr. Harris's convictions must be reversed because the denial of his 

motion violated his right to counsel. 

a. Mr. Harris's constitutional right to the effective assistance of 

counsel included an attorney with whom he could not communicate. 

The federal and state constitutions provide a criminal defendant with 
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the right to counsel and to due process. l U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; 

Const. art. 1, §§ 3,22. Counsel's critical role in the adversarial system 

protects the defendant's fundamental right to a fair trial. Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 US. 668,684-85, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 

(1984); United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648,656,104 S. Ct. 2039, 80 

L. Ed. 2d 657 (1984). "The very premise of our adversary system of 

criminal justice is that partisan advocacy on both sides of a case will 

best promote the ultimate objective that the guilty be convicted and the 

innocent go free." Cronic, 488 U.S. at 655 (quoting Herring v. New 

York, 422 US. 853,862,95 S. Ct. 2550,45 L. Ed. 2d 593 (1975)). 

The right to counsel therefore necessarily includes the right to 

effective assistance of counsel. Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 US. 

365,377, 106 S. Ct. 2574, 91 L. Ed. 2d 305 (1986); State v. A.NJ., 168 

Wn.2d 91, 96-98, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). The right to effective counsel 

is not fulfilled simply because an attorney is present in court; the 

attorney must actually assist the client and playa role in ensuring the 

1 The Sixth Amendment provides in pertinent part, "In all criminal 
prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . .. to have the Assistance of Counsel 
for his defence." The Fourteenth Amendment states in part, " .. . nor shall any State 
deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law . . . " The 
right to counsel found in the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment applies to the States. 
Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S. Ct. 792,9 L. Ed. 2d 799 (1963). 

Article I, Section 22 provides in part, "In all criminal prosecutions the 
accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel .. . " 
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proceedings are adversarial and fair. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 685; 

A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d at 98. 

When a defendant who is represented by court-appointed 

counsel is dissatisfied with his attorney, he must show good cause 

before the court will appoint new counsel. In re Personal Restraint of 

Stenson, l32 Wn.2d 668,734,940 P.2d 1239 (1997), cert. denied, 523 

U.S. 1008 (1998); Smith v. Lockhart, 923 F.2d 1314, l320 (8 th Cir. 

1991). Good cause may include a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable 

conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication between the 

defendant and his attorney. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d at 734; Smith, 923 

F.2d at l320. 

Communication between a client and his attorney is an essential 

component of the right to counsel. See Riggins v. Nevada, 504 U.S. 

127, 144, 112 S. Ct. 1810, 118 L. Ed. 2d 479 (1992) (Kennedy, J., 

concurring) ("We have held that a defendant's right to the effective 

assistance of counsel is impaired when he cannot cooperate in an active 

manner with his lawyer. The defendant must be able to provide needed 

information to his lawyer and to participate in the making of decisions 

on his own behalf."); Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80,91,96 S. 

Ct. l330, 47 L. Ed. 2d 592 (1976) (holding that trial court's order 
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preventing counsel from communicating with his client during 

overnight recess in the middle of trial violated the Sixth Amendment). 

The right to counsel is violated when a defendant is forced to proceed 

with an attorney with whom he has an irreconcilable conflict or with 

whom he cannot communicate. Daniels v. Woodford, 428 F.3d 1181, 

1197 (9th Cir. 2005), cert. denied, 550 U.S. 968 (2007); Brown v. 

Craven, 424 F.2d 1166, 1170 (9th Cir. 1970). When there is a 

breakdown in communication between counsel and client, even 

competent counsel may not provide an adequate defense. United States 

v. Nguyen, 262 F.3d 998, 1003 (9th Cir. 2001). A breakdown in 

communication and loss of trust results in the constructive denial of 

counsel. 

Where a criminal defendant has, with legitimate reason, 
completely lost trust in his attorney, and the trial court 
refuses to remove the attorney, the defendant is 
constructively denied counsel. This is true even where 
the breakdown is the result of the defendant's refusal to 
speak to counsel, unless the defendant's refusal to 
cooperate demonstrates "unreasonable contumacy." 

Daniels, 428 F.3d at 1198 (quoting Brown, 424 F.2d at 1169). 

b. The trial court improperly denied Mr. Harris's request for 

new counsel. When a trial court learns of a conflict between a 

defendant and his counsel, the court must thoroughly inquire into the 
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factual basis of the defendant's dissatisfaction. Smith, 923 F.2d at 

l320 (quoting United States v. Hart, 557 F.2d 162, 163 (8th Cir.) (per 

curiam), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 906 (1977)). In reviewing the denial of 

a defendant's motion for new counsel, the appellate court considers (1) 

the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry into the conflict; (2) the extent 

of the conflict between the accused and his attorney, and (3) the 

timeliness of the motion. Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 724; Daniels, 428 

F.3d at 1197-98. An evaluation of the three factors demonstrates that 

the trial court improperly denied Mr. Harris's motion for a new 

attorney. 

First, the trial court failed to make any inquiry into Mr. Harris's 

dissatisfaction with his attorney except to learn that he could not 

communicate with his lawyer. 1RP 20-21. The Nguyen Court held 

that a trial court informed of a conflict between the defendant and his 

counsel should question the attorney or the defendant "privately and in 

depth" and "examine available witnesses" before ruling on the motion. 

Nguyen, 262 F.3d at 1004 (quoting United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 

1154, 1160 (9th Cir. 1998)). "[I]n most circumstances, a court can only 

ascertain the extent of the breakdown in communication by asking 

specific and targeted questions." United States v. Adelzo-Gonzalez, 

10 



268 F.3d 772,777-78 (9th Cir. 2001). Such an inquiry is adequate ifit 

"'ease[s] the defendant's dissatisfaction, distrust, and concern' and 

'provide[ s] a sufficient basis for reaching an informed decision. '" 

Daniels, 428 F.3d at 1198 (quoting Adelzo-Gonzalez, 268 F.3d at 777). 

The trial court did not engage in the colloquy necessary to 

determine if Mr. Harris's right to effective assistance of counsel was 

violated. The court asked Mr. Harris only two questions, did not 

question his attorney at all, and did not call any witnesses on the issue. 

1RP 20-21. Mr. Harris had just lost a trial with attorney Miguel Duran. 

1RP 21. Mr. Harris informed the court that he and Mr. Duran had some 

misunderstandings during that case, and he could not face the trial in 

this case without "having an understanding of this man." rd. When 

asked what he meant, Mr. Harris explained to the court "Well, we're 

not able to communicate, Your Honor." rd. The court asked Mr. 

Harris ifhe had anything further to say, but Mr. Harris did not. rd. 

Although Mr. Harris stated that he could not communicate with 

Mr. Duran, the court denied Mr. Harris's motion without any further 

inquiry. rd.; CP 7. The court thus failed to fulfill its duty to inquire 

into the reasons for the conflict. 
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Second, the conflict between Mr. Harris and his counsel was 

serious, as Mr. Harris told the trial court that he did not want to go to 

trial without "having an understanding with this man" and explained 

that meant they were "not able to communicate." 1 RP 21. While an 

adequate colloquy from the court would have made the reasons for the 

conflict more clear, Mr. Harris's statement that he and Mr. Duran were 

unable to communicate is sufficient to establish that Mr. Harris was 

constructively denied counsel. See Daniels, 428 F.3d at 1198; Nguyen, 

262 F.3d at 1003. 

Mr. Harris's complaints about Mr. Duran were also presented to 

the judge who presided over his first trial during the same time period. 

Supp CP _ (sub. no. 134, State v. John Harris, Jr., King County No. 

11-1-03052-7 SEA, 7/25/12).2 Mr. Harris said that his attorney had not 

called witnesses at the first trial and had not requested missing 

discovery. rd. Mr. Harris even related that he felt his attorney was 

working for the prosecutor's office. rd. Thus, Mr. Harris established 

that he had a serious communication breakdown with his court-

appointed attorney. 

2 This document is also found at CP 67-70 in State v. John Harris Jr., Court of 
Appeals No. 69202-0-1. 
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Finally, Mr. Harris's motion was timely. In evaluating the 

timeliness of a motion for new counsel, the court balances the 

defendant's important constitutional right to counsel with the resulting 

inconvenience and delay. Daniels, 428 F.3d at 1200 (quoting Moore, 

159 F.3d at 1161). "Even if the trial court becomes aware of a conflict 

on the eve of trial, a motion to substitute counsel is timely if the 

conflict is serious enough to justify the delay." Id. (citing Adelzo

Gonzalez, 268 F.3d at 780). 

Mr. Harris asked the court for new counsel on June 19,2012. 

The motion occurred prior to his omnibus hearing, and five months 

before the trial court began hearing pre-trial motions. 1RP 20-21, 24. 

Mr. Harris's motion was thus timely. See Smith, 923 F.3d at 596 

(timeliness never found to be a bar when substitution claim is 

meritorious); Adelzo-Gonzalez, 268 F.3d at 780 (motion made 

approximately six weeks prior to trial was timely); Nguyen, 262 F.3d at 

1003 (motion made on day trial set to start was timely). 

The trial court thus violated Mr. Harris's constitutional 

right to counsel by denying his motion to discharge Mr. Duran 

and forcing Mr. Harris to proceed to trial with an attorney he 

could not communicate with and did not trust. 
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c. Mr. Harris's convictions must be reversed. The 

erroneous denial of a motion for new counsel is presumptively 

prejudicial. Daniels, 428 F.3d at 1199; Nguyen, 262 F.3d at 

1005. Mr. Harris's convictions must be reversed and remanded 

for a new trial. 

2. The trial court exceeded its statutory authority in 
ordering Mr. Harris to pay restitution for Ms. 
Grayson's burial expenses as part of his sentence for 
driving with a suspended driver's license. 

Mr. Harris was required to pay restitution of$8,655.22 to 

reimburse Ms. Grayson's family members for burial and memorial 

expenses as part of his sentence for driving with a suspended or 

revoked operator's license.3 CP 61-62, 91-105. The restitution order 

exceeded the court's statutory authority to impose restitution for a gross 

misdemeanor offense, however, because it was not part of a suspended 

sentence or a condition of probation. In addition, the restitution was 

not authorized because the burial expenses were not a loss caused by 

the commission of the crime of driving with a suspended license. 

3 The State did not seek restitution for Mr. Harris's felony hit and run 
conviction, conceding the burial expenses were not causally connected to that offense. 
CP 78 (citing Hartwell, infra, 38 Wn. App.at 138-41). 

14 



a. The superior court could not impose restitution as a condition 

of Mr. Harris's sentence of driving with a suspended driver's license 

because it did not suspend any portion of the sentence or impose 

probation. Driving with a suspended driver's license is a gross 

misdemeanor, and the maximum sentence is 364 days in jail and/or a 

$5,000 fine. RCW 9A.20.021(2); RCW 46.20.342(l)(b). The court 

sentenced Mr. Harris to the maximum term of 364 days in jail, 

consecutive with his sentence for felony hit and run driving. CP 60. 

The court did not suspend any portion of his sentence or order 

probation. CP 60-61. 

The trial court's power to order restitution is statutory, not 

inherent. State v. Griffith, 164 Wn.2d 960, 965, 195 P.3d 506 (2008); 

State v. Davison, 116 Wn.2d 917, 919,809 P.2d 1374 (1991). Mr. 

Harris's challenge to his restitution order requires this Court to review 

whether the trial court exceeded its statutory authority in ordering 

restitution. State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 444,449,69 P.3d 318 (2003). In 

interpreting a statute, the appellate court tries to discern the 

legislature's intent, looking first at the statute's "plain language and its 

ordinary meaning." J.P., 149 Wn.2d at 450. The plain meaning may be 

found in the language of the statute itself as well as related statutes. Id. 
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The superior court's power to impose restitution for a gross 

misdemeanor is found at RCW 9.92.060 and RCW 9.95.210. State v. 

Soderholm, 68 Wn. App. 363, 377, 842 P.2d 1039 (1993). These two 

statutes, however, address suspended sentences and thus do not 

authorize restitution in this case. See State v. Eilts, 94 Wn.2d 489, 492, 

617 P.2d 993 (1980) (RCW 9.95.210 authorized the court to order 

restitution when granting probation); State v. Marks, 95 Wn. App. 537, 

539-40, 977 P.2d 606 (1999) (upholding restitution based upon the two 

statutes where defendant given suspended sentence and probation for 

misdemeanor). 

RCW 9.92.060 gives the court the discretion to order an 

offender to pay restitution as "a condition to suspension of sentence." 

RCW 9.92.060(2). Similarly, RCW 9.95.210 allows the court to 

require an offender to pay restitution "in the order granting probation 

and as a condition thereof." RCW 9.95.210(2). They do not authorize 

restitution in this case. 

RCW 9A.20.030 may also provide the court authority to order 

restitution in non-felony cases. See State v. Thomas, 138 Wn. App. 78, 

81-82, 155 P.3d 998 (2007). The statute reads in relevant part: 

If a person has gained money or property or caused a 
victim to lose money or property through the

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