69729.3

69729.3

NO. 69729-3-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JOHN HARRIS, JR.,

Appellant.



#### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREA R. VITALICH Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

#

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

## C. ARGUMENT

1. THE RECORD DOES NOT SUPPORT HARRIS'S CLAIM THAT HE AND HIS TRIAL ATTORNEY HAD AN IRRECONCILABLE CONFLICT DUE TO A COMPLETE BREAKDOWN IN COMMUNICATION.

Harris first claims that he should be granted a new trial because the Criminal Presiding Judge did not grant his motion to substitute counsel based on a purported breakdown in communication between Harris and his trial attorney, and thus, that his Sixth Amendment right to counsel was violated. Brief of Appellant, at 6-14. This claim should be rejected because the record simply does not support it. Aside from Harris's bare assertion five months before trial that he and his attorney were not communicating effectively, there is absolutely no evidence in the record that Harris and his attorney had any difficulty communicating during the trial or that Harris received inadequate representation at trial due to an irreconcilable conflict with counsel. Therefore, this Court should affirm.

A defendant is entitled to a new trial due to a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to conflict-free counsel only if the defendant demonstrates that counsel had an actual conflict of interest that adversely affected counsel's performance. Mickens v. Taylor, 535 U.S. 162, 171-72, 122 S. Ct. 1237, 152 L. Ed. 2d 291 (2002); State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 573, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). Another form of conflict arises when a defendant and trial counsel have an "irreconcilable conflict" with one another due to a "complete breakdown in communication." In re Personal Restraint of Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 723, 16 P.3d 1 (2001). In such cases, "[i]f the relationship between lawyer and client completely collapses, the refusal to substitute new counsel violates the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel." Id. at 722.

When a defendant claims on appeal that he is entitled to a new trial due to an irreconcilable conflict with counsel, counsel's actual performance at trial is the focus of the reviewing court's analysis. Accordingly, when a defendant makes an irreconcilable conflict claim, prejudice is presumed on appeal only when the record shows that counsel's representation was inadequate

because of counsel's conflict with the defendant. In re Stenson,

142 Wn.2d at 724. In addition, the reviewing court considers the
extent of the purported conflict between the defendant and counsel,
the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry into the purported conflict,
and the timeliness of the defendant's motion for new counsel. Id.

(citing United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158-59 (9th Cir.
1998)). In any event, the record must demonstrate that the
defendant and trial counsel were at odds to a degree that affected
counsel's ability to represent the defendant before a new trial will
be granted.

For example, in a case where the defendant refused to cooperate or communicate with trial counsel at all, and where counsel's resulting representation at trial was "perfunctory," the record established a complete breakdown in communication that justified reversal of the defendant's conviction. Brown v. Craven, 424 F.2d 1166, 1169-70 (9th Cir. 1970). As another example, in a case where the attorney-client relationship was a "stormy one with quarrels, bad language, threats, and counter-threats," and where these problems persisted over time, the defendant was entitled to a new trial due to an irreconcilable conflict with counsel. United States v. Williams, 594 F.2d 1258, 1259-60 (9th Cir. 1979). And in

a case where counsel referred to the defendant by a racial slur and threatened to provide the defendant with inadequate representation if he insisted on going to trial rather than accepting a plea bargain, a complete breakdown in communication was established. Frazier v. United States, 18 F.3d 778, 783 (9th Cir. 1994). The common thread in all of these cases is that counsel's representation of the defendant at trial was negatively affected by conflict with the defendant.

On the other hand, in <u>In re Stenson</u>, no irreconcilable conflict was established despite disagreements between Stenson and his attorneys that became so contentious that "strong words were exchanged" and one of the attorneys stated on the record that he could no longer "stand the sight" of Stenson. <u>In re Stenson</u>, 142 Wn.2d at 728-29. Despite these problems, the Washington Supreme Court agreed with the trial court that Stenson was not entitled to new counsel because, "whatever the disagreements between Stenson and his counsel, . . . there is no evidence to suggest that the representation Stenson received was in any way inadequate." <u>Id.</u> at 730. Therefore, the court held that "[t]he differences between defendant and counsel in this case do not come close to constituting denial of counsel to such an extent that

prejudice may be presumed," and it rejected Stenson's claim because the extent of the conflict was not serious enough to warrant reversal. <u>Id.</u> at 732; see also <u>State v. Varga</u>, 151 Wn.2d 179, 200, 86 P.3d 139 (2004) ("general dissatisfaction and distrust with counsel's performance" is not sufficient cause to justify appointing new trial counsel). A far less compelling case than <u>Stenson</u> presents itself here.

In this case, Harris made a motion to discharge his trial attorney five months before trial. Harris stated that he and counsel "just had one trial and we had some misunderstandings," that there were "two other trials" pending, and Harris did not want to "go in there with – with not – not having an understanding with this man." 1RP (6/19/12) 21. When the Criminal Presiding judge asked Harris to clarify what he meant, Harris said, without elaboration, "Well, we're not able to communicate, Your Honor." 1RP (6/19/12) 21. The judge asked Harris if he had anything else to say; Harris responded, "No, Your Honor." The judge then denied Harris's motion to discharge counsel. 1RP (6/19/12) 21.

Trial began five months later and lasted for more than two weeks. Nowhere in the trial record did either Harris or his trial attorney indicate that they were having any further problems

communicating, or that they were in any way at odds with one another. To the contrary, the record shows that Harris and trial counsel communicated (at the very least) about Harris's trial attire (see 2RP 238-39), about the accuracy of a transcript of Harris's interview with the police (see 4RP 543-44), and about Harris's trial testimony, which was presented to the jury without any apparent conflict between Harris and counsel (see 6RP 759-81, 811-13). In addition, Harris acknowledged on the record that he and trial counsel had discussed whether Harris should take the stand a second time to give supplemental testimony (see 7RP 903-04, 934-35), and the record further establishes that Harris and trial counsel discussed whether Harris should enter a guilty plea for strategic reasons near the end of the trial (see 8RP 956-61). Undoubtedly, these were not the only communications between Harris and counsel during trial.

Furthermore, the record contains no evidence whatsoever that trial counsel's representation was inadequate or was in any way negatively affected by an irreconcilable conflict with Harris. To the contrary, the record shows that counsel and Harris worked together to mount the most plausible defense possible given the overwhelming evidence of Harris's guilt -i.e., attempting to raise a

reasonable doubt as to whether Harris's car or the second car had caused Clashana Grayson's death, and asking the jury to return a verdict on a less serious hit and run charge based on causing injury rather than death. See 8RP (12/4/12) 1025-27, 1047-48.

Based on this trial record, Harris has not established an irreconcilable conflict that would justify granting him a new trial due to a denial of the right to counsel. First, he has not shown that trial counsel's representation was inadequate due to a breakdown in communication, and therefore, prejudice cannot be presumed. As to the extent of any purported conflict between Harris and his trial attorney, the record of the trial itself shows no conflict at all. And, regarding the adequacy of the lower court's inquiry, the presiding court asked Harris whether he had anything to say other than the bald assertion that he and his attorney were not communicating effectively. Harris stated, "No, Your Honor." 1RP (6/19/12) 21. Accordingly, no further inquiry was necessary. As stated above, this case is far less compelling than In re Stenson; thus, as in Stenson, this Court should reject Harris's claim of an irreconcilable conflict with trial counsel.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The State agrees that the motion to discharge counsel was timely. However, this is the only factor in the analysis that weighs in Harris's favor.

Nonetheless, Harris cites a document that he filed in one of his other cases in support of his claim that an irreconcilable conflict existed in this case. Brief of Appellant, at 12. This document - a letter from Harris to a different judge dated July 25, 2012 – asserts that Harris and his trial counsel disagreed about trial strategy in defending against a charge of attempting to elude. CP 122-26. As a preliminary matter, this document is not part of the record in this case, and thus, it should not be considered. 5 See State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 338, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) ("a personal restraint petition is the appropriate vehicle" for bringing matters before the court that are not in the record). Moreover, a disagreement over trial strategy does not constitute an irreconcilable conflict entitling the defendant to new counsel in any event, because matters of strategy "are properly entrusted to defense counsel, not the defendant." State v. Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 436, 459, 290 P.3d 996 (2012), rev. denied, 176 Wn.2d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The letter appears to concern the trial that Harris mentioned during his motion to discharge counsel before the Criminal Presiding judge on June 19, 2012. However, Harris did not bring any of the information contained in the letter to the Criminal Presiding judge's attention during the hearing. Rather, when asked if he had anything else to say, Harris said, "No, Your Honor." 1RP (6/19/12) 21. Given that the letter was written more than a month after the hearing in Criminal Presiding and was addressed to a different judge, it strains the bounds of reason to suggest that this letter is somehow germane to the Criminal Presiding judge's decision to deny Harris's motion to discharge counsel.

1023 (2013). Accordingly, even if this document *were* properly designated and relevant, it does not support Harris's claim.<sup>6</sup>

In sum, Harris has not established an irreconcilable conflict with trial counsel that resulted in a denial of the right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment. Trial counsel's representation was not deficient, the extent of the purported conflict between Harris and counsel during trial was nonexistent, and, despite the Criminal Presiding court's attempts to ascertain the nature of Harris's dissatisfaction with counsel five months before trial, Harris provided nothing more than bare assertions that are not supported by the record. This Court should reject Harris's claim, and affirm.

2. THE TRIAL COURT'S RESTITUTION ORDER IS AUTHORIZED BY STATUTE AND PROPERLY BASED ON A CONVICTION FOR DRIVING WITH A REVOKED LICENSE IN THE SECOND DEGREE.

Harris also claims that the restitution order for Clashana
Grayson's burial expenses should be vacated because it is not
authorized by statute and is not causally connected to the crime of
driving with a revoked license in the second degree. Brief of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In addition, the question of whether counsel provided adequate representation at trial is necessarily a case-specific inquiry. Accordingly, even if Harris's letter has some bearing on the case in which it was filed, it plainly has no relevance in this case.

Appellant, at 14-25. This argument should be rejected. The restitution order is authorized by RCW 9A.20.030(1), and the damages were caused by Harris's commission of the crime in accordance with the test for causation under Washington law. The restitution order should be affirmed.

A trial court's authority to order restitution is "purely statutory." State v. Smith, 119 Wn.2d 385, 389, 831 P.2d 1082 (1992). Accordingly, as a preliminary matter, a restitution order must be authorized by statute.

In this case, the State cited three statutes in its briefing for the trial court that could potentially authorize restitution when a defendant has been convicted of a gross misdemeanor such as driving with a revoked license in the second degree: RCW 9.92.060(2), RCW 9.95.210(2), and RCW 9A.20.030(1). CP 79. The State agrees with Harris that the first two of these three statutes do not apply. Under RCW 9.92.060(2), restitution may be ordered as a condition of a suspended sentence. Harris did not receive a suspended sentence<sup>7</sup>; rather, he received a statutory

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Although the judgment and sentence refers to Harris's sentence as "suspended," the trial court "suspended" a sentence of 364 days in jail on condition that Harris serve 364 days in jail. CP 60. This is not a suspended sentence because nothing was actually suspended.

maximum sentence of 364 days in jail. CP 60-62. Under RCW 9.95.210(2), restitution may be ordered as a condition of probation. Harris was not sentenced to probation, either. CP 60-62. Accordingly, neither RCW 9.92.060(2) nor RCW 9.95.210(2) authorize restitution in this case.

But the State does not agree with Harris with respect to RCW 9A.20.030(1), which provides that restitution may be ordered in lieu of a fine when the defendant has "caused a victim to lose money or property through the commission of a crime[.]" Harris argues, without citation to authority, that this statute does not authorize restitution in this case because the statute "is limited to offenses involving losses [of] money or property." Brief of Appellant, at 17. This unsupported assertion is incorrect. Rather, in ordering restitution "the sentencing court can order the defendant to pay the *actual* amount of loss caused by the crime to any person damaged; neither the name of the crime nor the named victims limit the award." State v. Thomas, 138 Wn. App. 78, 83, 155 P.3d 998 (2007) (emphasis in original).

Accordingly, RCW 9A.20.030(1) provides the necessary statutory authority for the restitution order in this case. Therefore, the remaining issue for this Court to resolve is whether Harris's

crime of driving with a revoked license is causally connected to the losses incurred by Clashana Grayson's family for her burial expenses.

Restitution should be ordered for losses that are causally connected to the crime of conviction. State v. Griffith, 164 Wn.2d 960, 965, 195 P.3d 506 (2008). "Losses are causally connected if, but for the charged crime, the victim would not have incurred the loss." Id. at 966 (citing State v. Tobin, 161 Wn.2d 517, 524, 166 P.3d 1167 (2007)). To determine whether a causal connection exists, the reviewing court examines "the underlying facts of the charged offense, not the name of the crime" in question. Griffith, 164 Wn. App. at 966 (quoting State v. Landrum, 66 Wn. App. 791, 799, 832 P.2d 1359 (1992)). Moreover, losses need not be foreseeable; rather, restitution should be ordered in any case where the losses were the result of the defendant's crime under "a 'but for' inquiry." Tobin, 161 Wn.2d at 524.

As the State argued at the restitution hearing before the trial court, Division Two's decision in <u>State v. Thomas</u> provides the closest analogy to this case. In <u>Thomas</u>, the defendant was charged with vehicular assault, but was ultimately convicted of

the lesser offense of DUI, a gross misdemeanor. Thomas, 138 Wn. App. 80-81. At sentencing, over the defendant's objection, the trial court ordered the defendant to pay over \$7,000 in restitution for her injured passenger's medical expenses. Id. at 81. The issue presented on appeal was whether the passenger's injuries were causally connected to the crime of DUI, particularly in light of the fact that the jury did not find the defendant guilty of vehicular assault. Id. The Thomas court agreed with the trial court that the passenger would not have been injured but for the defendant's commission of the crime of DUI, despite the fact that the jury had not found vehicular assault beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 83. A similar case presents itself here.

In this case, Harris was not authorized to drive because his license was revoked in the second degree. In fact, Harris was aware that his license "probably [was] suspended" on the date of the crime, yet he chose to drive that night anyway. 5RP 617. If Harris had not been driving, as he was prohibited from doing because his license was revoked, he would not have struck Clashana Grayson with his car and would not have caused her

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